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dedicated to

Barbara O’Breza and Joe Truitt

for the nurture


What are little boys made of ?

Snips and snails, and puppy-dogs’ tails,

That’s what little boys are made of.



A Brief History of Cloning


It started with peas.

An Austrian monk named Mendel tried some biology experiments in the small garden of the monastery where he lived and worked and prayed to God. It was the 1850s. Charles Darwin was still drafting On the Origin of Species and the first Neanderthal remains had just been found in a cave near Düsseldorf. Mendel’s religious order, the Augustinians, believed the pursuit of truth through scholarship was essential toward spiritual enlightenment, and Mendel’s particular scholarly interest had turned to the study of heredity: How life-forms pass traits on to their offspring.

To explore this, he grew peas. Thirty thousand pea plant “children” carefully bred from specific pea “parents.” He meticulously pollinated and wrapped each pod, then examined and recorded their most minute detail: blossom color, pod hue and shape, and pod position. Thirty thousand times. It took seven years, and he became partially blind from squinting at all those peas.

He authored a single treatise on his conclusions and presented it at two meetings of the Natural History Society of Brünn, who subsequently published “Experiments in Plant Hybridization” in the club’s official journal. In the document, Mendel proved how specific genetic alleles (which he called factors) in the parent peas controlled the traits of the children peas. Some factors were strong/dominant, and others were weaker/recessive, and the strong prevailed when the two met in an offspring. He started mapping these factors and eventually could predict exactly what the offspring plant would look like.

He’d invented modern genetics.

Very few people read his paper, however. He wasn’t a “real” scientist, the real scientists decided. He was just a monk with a small pea garden, and his work had more to do with ordinary hybridization than the emerging field of Inheritance. And so he was almost completely ignored, and his findings were to be cited only three times over the next fifty years.

Mendel next tried bees. He kept five hundred hives with bees collected from all over the world: African, Spanish, Egyptian. He built special chambers for the various queens to mate with foreign suitors and promptly bred a new species of hybrid bee that produced more honey than any other bee on earth. Alas, Mendel’s bees also proved more aggressive than any other bee on earth. They stung the other bees, his fellow monks, and then struck Brno, a nearby village. He had to destroy every hive, and killed ten thousand bees.

He returned to plants, which didn’t sting, but tried something other than peas—a kin of the sunflower family called “hawkweed”—and it didn’t work out. He was unable to corroborate his original conclusions. Mendel grew depressed and stopped doing experiments of any kind. When he died, the abbot who ran the monastery burned Mendel’s notes and unpublished essays on Inheritance. It was another fifty years before the scientific community rediscovered his original paper.

The professionals now liked, and understood, what they saw. Using Mendel’s principles and evidence on the biological machineries of Inheritance, they summarily progressed from charting peas to charting frogs. From frogs to mammals. They figured out how to craft detailed maps of DNA and isolated where each factor resided. Once isolated, analyzed each factor to understand how it really worked. Once understood, explored how to modify.

They eventually cloned a sheep from a single strand of DNA. A small animal-sciences research institute in Scotland took one cell from a parent donor, wedged it into an unfertilized egg cell that’d had its nucleus removed, zapped it once with good old-fashioned electricity, and made another animal. Identical. Two of—ignoring, technically, the mitochondrial DNA within the donor egg—the exact same sheep.

They named the 98 percent copy Dolly, and Dolly became famous. It was 1996.

Now, it was game on. The next several years yielded an explosion of “clones.”

Japan constructed Noto the Cow. Thousands of Notos. The Italians cooked up Prometea the Horse. Iran made Hannah the Goat while South Korea made Snuppy the Dog and Snuwolf the Wolf. The Scots made pigs; the French, rabbits. Both China and India grew duplicate water buffalo. Spain and Turkey, bulls. Dubai crafted the exact same camel a hundred and four times.

The United States, ultimately, did it better—and more quickly—than everyone else combined. More labs, more commercial interest, bundles more money. Cloning and biogenetic research were added to every pharmaceutical company in the nation. Even university students were making clones, and California alone has more colleges than all of Germany, France, and Great Britain combined. Within a decade, Americans had created Cumulina the Mouse. Ralph the Rat. Mira the Goat. Noah the Ox. Gem the Mule. Dewey the Deer. Libby the Ferret. CC the Cat. And, at last, Tetra the Monkey. Mice to livestock to primates. Ten years.

Cloning humans, by the way, is still completely legal in the United States. Everyone just assumes it’s not. A few states have banned it. Most haven’t. And Washington keeps out of the way. Presidents may publically denounce it and advocate for moratoriums, but no such halts have ever actually been enforced. The Human Cloning Prohibition Acts of 2003 and 2007 were both voted down by Congress, and the 2009 version has been waylaid in various subcommittees for years. American scientists can pretty much do whatever they want as long as they don’t overtly use federal dollars. Human cloning remains legal in twenty other developed countries.

When Sir Ian Wilmut, the scientist who led the team that cloned Dolly the Sheep, was asked about the possibility of cloning humans, he replied simply, “It would be naive to think it possible to prevent.”

And he was right.
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Prologue: A Field Test


One of thousands performed during the longest war in U.S. history. An irresistible opportunity for assessing the potential effectiveness of newborn policy and products in model test environments, thus fulfilling the primary tenet of all military research and development: What hasn’t been tested doesn’t work. Everything, from new camouflage and body armor to computer-driven bullets and laser cannons directly out of Star Wars. Recon systems, satellites, advanced combat rifles, pesticides, cold-storage warehouses, radio sets, and lamps all had their turn. This field test, from a purely scientific standpoint, was no different.

The two helicopters were stealth-modified Black Hawks on loan from the 160th Special Operations Aviation Regiment (SOAR), an airborne Army unit known as the Night Stalkers. They swept over the village, silent and veiled as buoyant shadows caught in the valley’s cold predawn winds. The target had been rated mostly empty. Mostly enemy. And, suitably remote.

As the helicopters passed overhead, one of the passengers, a man the Night Stalker crew had never seen before and would never see again, dropped a canister no bigger than a Pepsi can into the village square. Hell, it was a Pepsi can, and it bounced and skittered in a dozen different directions before settling against a mud-lined furrow running along the village’s lone dirt road. The Black Hawks were halfway into the next valley before the handful of village watchmen even thought to shoot after them.

The gunfire awoke Tahir al-Umari, who rose slowly and grumbled at his stirring children to remain quiet as he pulled on sandals. Outside, there was random shouting and dogs barking. In the doorway, with arms crossed and tilted forward enough to see down the path some, he called across to a neighbor who’d struck a similar pose. “U.S.,” the man replied simply. Tahir nodded, rubbed at his nose in thought as the soft winds off the adjacent black mountain slipped down, cool across his face. He was one of a dozen families who still lived in the outlying village, the rest having vanished over the last ten years. He and his sons now owned and worked eleven acres, and nine were planted with poppy. Allah willing, when the others departed, he would plant wheat and saffron again. One day soon. Now, perhaps, it didn’t matter. The Americans would come back or send the Afghan narcotics police to burn the fields. He’d heard they possessed some sort of virus that could kill an entire crop in hours. He thought, I will lose everything. He thought, Maybe this is a good thing. And, Now maybe the Taliban will move on to some other place.

Automatic fire from the center of the village. The distinct clacking of AK-47s. Then excited voices became screams.

Tahir and his neighbor locked eyes across the distance between them, both with hands half lifted in confusion. A raid by the Americans? The neighbor quickly retreated into his house, while Tahir stepped fully outside.

“Daddy?” His youngest daughter’s voice emerged from within, and he turned. His wife and other children had crowded in the doorway behind her. Whispering. His oldest son, thirteen, had pulled on his jacket and shoes.

“Stay inside,” he told them, eyeing the boy especially. “I’ll be right back.”

He stepped hurriedly down the uneven dirt pathway, skirted the other mud-brick homes alongside. Another man followed him, a small crowd moving together toward the sounds of boisterous cursing and gunfire. More shots were fired and Tahir crouched low in the shadows. It sounded like an entire clip emptying. A woman beside him moaned a half-prayer, and he shooed her still with his hand. The air tasted funny, he realized. The back of his tongue was acrid, like he’d been chewing on something plastic.

He caught the eye of a friend, both men finding the courage to creep toward the end of the street together. There, the headlights of a stock-still van cast a muted glow onto the cramped main square. Bodies lay there, sprawled and twisted like a collection of his daughter’s cloth dolls dropped absently to the ground. Like, except for the widening pools of blood.

“They’re . . . they’re shooting themselves,” someone whispered from the shadows beside him, the voice both retreating and truthful. Tahir watched as one of the Taliban fighters shot another and then immediately brought the rifle beneath his own chin in a sudden ruby spout. A day laborer named Rafeeq scrambled to seize the dropped rifle but was shot down as two more Taliban charged into the square shouting more curses and commands. One noticed other onlookers across the square from Tahir and turned to fire. Four shadowy figures of various sizes spun and collapsed. The soldier cast off his now-empty rifle and stumbled toward the dead as if drunk, pulling free a handgun. Fired unremittingly into the first corpse. Then he turned and faced Tahir.

Tahir froze with nowhere to escape. The man pointed the gun and shot. Nothing. The clip already emptied. Still the man stood, wrist jerking half a dozen times, as if he’d actually been firing at Tahir. There was something in the man’s expression. His eyes. What is wrong with his eyes? Tahir shuddered.

Another fighter pounced beside this one and clubbed him in the head with a rifle. The man with the strange look went down and the second straddled him, driving the rifle butt into his face. Again and again and again.

Tahir stumbled backward, withdrawing in panic with the others. His eyes were stinging. Smoke from the rifles, he thought, a new chill suddenly nagging at the base of his very skull. Screams echoed behind him, and Tahir had to turn.

A woman—Padja’s wife, he thought—had been pulled down by two other men he knew well. Her face pushed to the ground, her chadri ripped away as both men struggled with their own pants. Tahir stopped his retreat. “No,” he shouted at them. Found himself moving forward to stop them. Found himself watching the woman’s body writhing beneath them, struggling to be free. Her exposed loins lifted and vulnerable for their every pleasure. For his too if he so desired. Tahir shook that sudden awful thought away. He advanced closer. “No,” he said again, but the word came out too slow, like in a dream. The worst dream.

Padja’s wife had rolled over, shamefully opening herself to them. But, the man on top of her was now screaming. Clutching his face, something dripping and red hanging between his fingers. His cheekbone glistened in the first rays of the rising sun. From beneath, Padja’s wife smiled at Tahir. Blood running down her chin. Her eyes. Something in her eyes.

Tahir crumpled. Crawled, his head vibrating. Shadowed figures both scrambled and lumbered past him in every direction. The unnatural taste and smell of plastic utterly filled his throat, his nose. Screams swathed the village, echoed off the looming mountain, where dawn burned crimson. His mind crowded with incessant and infinite thoughts, awful thoughts, buzzing like a million insects. Over this unrelenting swarm, he reflected, This is what Hell sounds like. And also, I must get home.

He staggered back down the street, propping himself against other homes to keep himself upright. Inside each, more screams. Mothers and brothers and babies howling together as one. Their cries joining the churning clamor in his head.

Someone grabbed him from behind. He turned, struck out. The boy collapsed. A friend of his sons. The boy had a knife, and Tahir took it from him easily. Used it just as easily. Stabbing again and again. Again.

He stepped more confidently down the path now. The swirling, immeasurable thoughts had finally become one. Only one.

He inspected the dripping knife. Smiled.

His family waited inside their house as he’d left them.

His daughter came to the door first.

“Daddy?”



I

clone n.

From the Greek word klōn for “twig.”

(1) a group of genetically identical cells descended from a single common ancestor;

(2) an organism descended asexually from a single ancestor such as a plant produces by budding;

(3) a replica of a DNA sequence produced by genetic engineering;

(4) one that copies or closely resembles another, as in appearance or function

O Muse, sing through me

of that man full of skills,

who wandered for many years

after he destroyed the sacred city of Troy,

and saw the cities of many men,

and learned their manners.

THE ODYSSEY



THEODORE/7

JUNE 03, FRIDAY—RADNOR, PA

This boy was every boy.

The standard model. The kind you’d purchase at Walmart if they had a “Boy Aisle.” T-shirt, long gym shorts. Straight bangs falling over a rounded face. Big blue eyes. The fixed, playful grin of a pirate. Twelve years old, legs too long, deep summer tan, fidgeting in his chair. Earbuds draped around his neck for later.

He’d raped his first victim with a metal bar wrenched from the bed frame, then carefully positioned the body and bar as lewdly as possible for her family to find. Another woman, he’d bitten off both nipples before strangling her with a pair of stockings that’d been pulled so tightly around her neck, they’d cut down to the bone.

He’d done these things. This boy.

Theodore.

Done more, actually, according to his summary file.

Or his DNA had.

Despite his best efforts, Castillo had not yet established any well-defined distinction between the two. He wasn’t so sure the two scientists standing behind him had, either.

The two men looked nothing like Castillo’s idea of scientists. No lab coats, or pens, or beakers. These guys wore khakis and matching light purple dress shirts with the DSTI logo, matching holsters with Tasers at their hips.

Castillo assumed he did not look exactly like what they’d expected either. He wore jeans and a faded gray T-shirt. Probably needed a haircut. He’d left his guns in the car.

They stood together in Observation Room #4 of The Massey Institute, a small residential treatment facility in Radnor, Pennsylvania. According to the institute’s website, Massey was an “Adolescent treatment center where teen boys can develop healthy behaviors, improve their self-esteem and learn to positively express their emotions.” Mental health, anger management, eating disorders, drug and alcohol rehab, etc. Treatments included a combination of group and individual therapy, experiential therapy, and cutting-edge medication. Fifty-student maximum with an 8 to 1 student/teacher ratio and a staff of one hundred additional health professionals caring for the students. All boys.

Massey was owned and operated by the Dynamic Solutions Technology Institute, which had its own facility on the other side of the wooded property. According to its website, DSTI was a private biotechnology company with two hundred employees that “specializes in the development of therapeutic, pharmaceutical, and cell-based therapies.”

One of the room’s walls was a one-way mirror allowing them to secretly watch the boys next door.

“Phase One, where Applications maintains the bulk of its research, is restricted therapeutic cloning,” Dr. Erdman, the division head, the one with square silver glasses and short white hair, continued. “What most people might call ‘stem-cell’ research. Induced pluripotent stem cells, primarily. Nerve, skin, and bone cells. Just microscopic building blocks.” His voice remained distant and flat, and Castillo wondered if the geneticist might still be in shock. Based on what he’d been told about last night—the murders committed by kids like these—it would have been understandable. “These subjects were part of Phase Three.”

Castillo looked back to the mirror. Breathed deeply, thinking. Sitting beside the first kid was another boy the lab had tagged as Jerry.

Jerry was far beyond a “microscopic building block.”

His file read that he was fifteen years old. Read that his former self enjoyed intercourse with dead girls and fastening their corpses to copper wires for electrical shock experiments, which he meticulously documented and photographed. Kept breasts as souvenir paperweights. The file also noted that his former self, the “Original,” had been executed more than ten years ago.

The Original . . .

Another teenager, named Dean, watched ESPN from the couch. Twenty-seven bodies had been uncovered on “his” property way back in 1973. After authorities found the torture room.

Castillo said, “I assumed we were at least ten, maybe twenty years from . . . from this.”

“Most people do.” Dr. Erdman pulled off his glasses to wipe them with the bottom of his shirt. “For those in Washington who know better, the biotech lobby has become rather substantial in the last fifteen years. We’re already a multitrillion-dollar industry, and this work is a natural extension of that research.”

The last kid, labeled Andrei: The original form of his DNA had committed fifty-three murders in the Ukraine, according to his sheet. The Russian press had called him “The Rostov Ripper.” Hell of a name, Castillo thought. This guy’s preferred method was to first cut away his female victims’ eyes and then casually eat their uteri after his victims couldn’t “see him” anymore. Fifty-three murders. Castillo had served fifteen years, mostly in the field, and still he struggled with that number. The boy was apparently a new addition to the group. He’d recently turned ten years old.

“Where do you get the DNA?” Castillo asked.

The second doctor, Mohlenbrock, a stout man built like a Tolkien dwarf, actually chuckled. “Where don’t you?” he bragged. “Archived evidence. Autopsy samples. We had John Wayne Gacy’s brain here on loan for months and grabbed millions of good cells from that. We can use anything from hair on old brushes to flaked-off skin cells on clothes bought from family members. Hell, half these guys are still alive, and they just sign the stuff right over.”

Castillo studied the first boy again.

THEODORE/7 the file and photo read.

A clone. The genetic carbon copy of another human being.

Eyes. Skin. Brain. Bones. Blood.

Every damn cell. Copy, paste.

And not just any human being but one developed in a lab across this very property toward the scientific aim of isolating, understanding, and harnessing violent human behavior— this boy was the genetic offspring of an infamous serial killer. A killer whose name even Castillo recognized, although he couldn’t remember if it was the good-looking guy out west or the chubby one who dressed like a clown.

Ted Bundy.

This kid’s DNA had history. This DNA had celebrity status. This DNA had killed.

Considering the boy’s face, Castillo decided Bundy was probably the good-looking guy. Considering the file, he was definitely a monster. Castillo looked for something in the kid’s eyes, anything, that revealed the kind of person who’d slowly and rhythmically beat a woman to death with a piece of plywood while masturbating with his free hand. He saw nothing but a normal twelve-year-old boy and the partial ghost of his own reflection in the tinted glass.

“How do you keep them here?” he asked.

“Massey is a regarded, and rather exclusive, residential treatment facility. Many of the students were born the customary way and enrolled genuinely at considerable costs to their parents. The cloned boys, however . . . Their adoptive parents, consociates of DSTI, naturally, have enrolled their sons here.”

Castillo rescanned the file.





	BD: June 10, 2002

	SCNT: January 1, 2000




	IMP: January 10, 2001

	FH: N300





“What’s SCNT, Doctor?”

“Somatic cell nuclear transfer. IMP is embryo implant. FH is the female host. Look . . .” The doctor shuffled his feet behind Castillo. “Perhaps this was a mistake. We thought it might be easier for you to understand the rest if —”

“No,” Castillo stopped him. “This is helpful, thank you.” He turned from the one-way mirror and re-sorted the papers in his folder. “And the six boys who escaped . . .” He reread the parent gene names, having only half recognized two of them.

Albert Fish. Jeffrey Dahmer. Henry Lee Lucas. Dennis Rader. Ted Bundy. David Berkowitz.

He stopped, frowned. “I thought the kid in there was Ted Bundy.”

The doctor looked uneasy. “Theodore Seven.”

Castillo allowed himself an extra moment to process the implication before speaking. “Exactly how many ‘Theodores’ are there, Doctor?”

“With respect, we’re focused on finding the six boys who’ve escaped.” Dr. Erdman reset his glasses. “We were assured you are quite qualified for this sort of thing.”

Castillo stared back, holding up the briefing they’d pulled together for him. Now, perhaps, there was something in his look that exposed his own particular skill set. Because Erdman literally took a step backward. “The six,” said Castillo. “You’ll want to cover their homes. They’ll likely make contact.”

“We have men watching each home already,” Dr. Erdman replied quickly, plainly relieved Castillo had spoken first.

“Good.” Castillo nodded. “I’ll need the complete files for each boy who escaped. Everything you have. Grades? Known friends? Coaches? Jobs? Hobbies? Whatever you know about these kids. The trail will grow cold in a hurry.”

“Absolutely.” The scientist shot a quick look to Mohlenbrock. “Being gathered for you even as we speak. Psychiatric and medical reports, the—”

“And the three hostages,” Castillo interrupted. “Personnel files on Dr. Jacobson and the two nurses. Santos and . . .”—he checked his notes—“Kelso. Any email and phone records you have.”

Erdman frowned. “Is that really necessary? They’re hostages. Or already dead. Surely every minute we wait–-”

“Measure twice, cut once, Doctor.”

“What’s that?”

“Measure twice, cut once. Something my dad often said.”

“Was he also a CIA assassin?”

Castillo looked up and smiled. Jesus, these assholes are cocky, he thought. With the accountability in this massive fuckup, you’d think they’d want to keep their mouths shut and heads down until the Big Boys get everything back in FDA-approved order. CIA? The guy doesn’t even understand who it is we’re working for. “No,” he said. “He drove trucks for UPS. And, I’m troubled with your assumptions regarding my role.”

The issue had troubled him ever since he’d first been called. He’d commanded half a dozen Joint Special Operations Command arrest/capture missions over the last seven years, but his real specialty had always been leading JSOC kill/capture teams. Enemy bomb makers, financiers, high-level leaders. While Colonel Stanforth had confirmed that this assignment was the former type of mission, Castillo also knew well that missions had a funny way of shifting directives midstride.

“Let’s make this perfectly clear,” he said evenly. “I’m here to help locate these six kids. If I can find them, I will apprehend. That’s it. Only reason I was brought in. If I suspect for one minute that these kids, or anyone else for that matter, have been targeted for elimination to suppress what happened here, I will personally drag your asses to jail. Understood?”

“Fully,” Erdman replied.

Castillo didn’t give him a chance to extend further apologies, explanations, or, maybe, out-and-out lies. “Regardless, the point is, I can run outta here right now to track down six teenaged boys in a world that’s got some fifty-seven million square miles to hide in. Or, I can do a little homework and maybe start narrowing the game’s boundaries down a bit. Why are Dr. Jacobson and the two nurses not among the dead, I wonder. Maybe they were kept alive to help provide cars, money. Maybe they’re still alive because they’re also part of this. Were any of them disgruntled? Selling trade secrets to a competitor or another country? Had any of them maybe gotten in a romantic situation with one of these six students? Anything you give me could answer these questions and help.” Castillo’s thoughts had drifted again to Uzbekistan and the hills of northern Pakistan, other places he’d had to hunt down men. He shook it off. “You’re a man of science,” he said, pointing the folder at Erdman. “Which course of action do you think affords our highest probability for success?”

“Understood,” Erdman said. “I meant no disrespect.”

“And none taken. May I examine the victims now?”

Another nod, brief and perfunctory. “Follow me.”

Castillo cast a final look into the other room. “Unbelievable,” he murmured. “How did it ever get to this?”

Erdman smiled for the first time since they’d met. “It started with peas,” he said.



THE LAND OF NOD

JUNE 03, FRIDAY—RADNOR, PA

Most of the bodies were in the rec room.

The room’s walls were painted a striking light blue color that immediately reminded Castillo of the Aral Sea, the fresh dark splatters of blood even more conspicuous than they would have normally been. He tried to pretend they were coral.

Three men in light hazard suits and masks, employees of DSTI, scuttled about the room still, gathering more evidence, snapping more pictures. By this time tomorrow, it would look as if absolutely nothing had ever happened in the room. But it wasn’t tomorrow yet. It had been no more than twenty hours since the boys’ escape.

Castillo followed the two scientists within and slowed to study the first body they came to. It was splayed across the room’s foosball table. The sheet someone had covered it with was soaked through, and he could perfectly make out the shape and facial outlines of the person it covered. A modern Shroud of Turin, still dripping blood over the little plastic soccer players onto the field beneath.

“Who is this?” he asked.

“Dylan.”

Castillo waited.

“Dylan Meinzer. Produced from the DNA of Dylan Klebold, Columbine.”

“Right.” Castillo forced himself to simply accept this information as nothing more than standard intel. Now was not the time to really think about what it was they’d been telling him. The cloning strangeness. He focused instead on facts, his mind pulling up what it could. He remembered that Klebold and his buddy—couldn’t recall the name—shot up their school a good twenty years ago, murdering a dozen fellow students, and then offed themselves in the school library. This, if he believed what they’d been telling him, was that same boy’s clone. One of them, at least. “And you’ve confirmed that’s the other kid?”

The other body had been bound and positioned with telephone line and network cables to the railing that led to the second floor. Castillo eyed the dark shape half hidden beneath the sheet, embossed in blood and standing with its arms still held outstretched like some Halloween prankster. “One of the Erics.” Dr. Erdman flipped through a few pages of his clipboard. “Eric Palmer, Eric Six. Blood and PCR tests match up.”

“Have they found the skin yet?” Castillo asked. Another black-and-white question. Black-and-white questions were safe. Manageable. Just stick with those, and get out of this place as fast as you can. It had been more than a year since he’d seen even a drop of blood. Here, there were several pools.

“No,” Dr. Erdman replied. He sounded embarrassed.

Castillo looked down again at “Dylan” and furled back the sheet. The body beneath had been flayed, completely and immaculately. The skin cut away at every turn so that the boy, except for a few grisly potholed gouges out of his arm and between his toes, looked like something out of a Michelangelo sketchbook. The debrief he’d been given upon first arrival had suggested the other one looked exactly the same. “Why did they hate these two so much?” he asked.

Sudden, bright interest flared in Erdman’s eyes. “Is it that obvious?”

“Sure. This kid was alive when they skinned him.” Castillo looked into the corpse’s lidless dark eyes. “I . . . I’ve seen this before.”

More interest, less scientific this time. “Where was that?”

Castillo ignored the question and replaced the sheet. “You can tell by the hands.” He approached the second body. “The arms out like this. Instantaneous rigor mortis. Like a drowning victim’s last spasm. These two drowned choking on their own blood.”

“The others never . . .” The geneticist followed Castillo deeper into the room. “Frankly, the others never took to these boys. It was a mistake to have those two here.” His voice grew more vague, perceptibly clinical in its detachment. This was merely summarizing data, preparing an imminent report. “Naturally, ‘spree killers’ were never the same as the others.”

“Naturally.” Castillo hid the accompanying damning grin. “So, how do you know it’s not Eric Three or Four?” He made sure to make it sound more like a genuine question than a challenge. The anticipated pissing contest seemed worse than usual with this lot. A bunch of khakied Betas with delusions of Alphaness, the kind of men he’d struggled with most of his life. As one ex-lover—a Ph.D. candidate in some-or-other bullshitty subject whom he’d met while taking courses at the University of Maryland—had put it wryly during her breakup speech: “The hardguy schtick was fun until I realized it wasn’t just a schtick.” While he’d been off fighting in two wars, competence had somehow become an offense back home. He could try and talk as softly and “nice” as he wanted, but it didn’t matter. People too often still saw their own weaknesses in the skills and confidence he’d fostered in the military, and that was always a dangerous thing. It’d never been an issue in the field. “Doctor?” he prompted.

Erdman, to his credit, hadn’t taken offense. “There are ways. If there’s one thing we know around here, it’s DNA. Besides, the other Erics all terminated during gestation. You’ve heard of Dolly the Sheep, I imagine. Near three hundred copies of that animal died during pregnancy before the one we all know was actually born. Most all clones still terminate prior to birth.”

Castillo looked at the doctor. Terminate, he mused. These pricks speak just like we did in the Army. But this wasn’t a damn sheep Erdman was talking about. It was a room overflowing with dead kids. Black and white. Stay with the black and white. It was too much to take in the rest of the room at once, all the bodies. Instead, he focused only on what was directly in front of him: bloody metallic pellets the size of a small flat pill. “The transmitters,” he blurted. “Tell me about those.”

A dozen had been left on the pool table in the obvious shape of a smiley face, the gaps between the pellets drawn in with blood. The half-stripped body of the school’s psychotherapist remained sprawled facedown beside. She, too, now covered with a bloody sheet.

“Each subject is implanted at birth for their own safety.”

Castillo leaned closer for a better look. “Of course. To keep track of them.”

“It appears they each cut them out. We assume they carved up Eric and Dylan looking for them. To discover where they were implanted.”

“Maybe,” Castillo said. “These guys seem to have found and cut out their own transmitters easily enough. I think, perhaps, this knife work on these two was mostly for, what, fun? Either way, question for you: How’d these kids even know to look for them? Did they know they’d been implanted?”

Erdman shrugged. “No,” he said. “I wouldn’t think so.”

Castillo took in more of the room in more small, controlled segments, deliberately cataloguing the other evidence of recent history sprinkled throughout. The security guard brained against the steps. The torn and bloody nurses’ uniforms. Crimson scrawling of curse words and giant cartoon dicks on the walls. Half a dozen small bodies swaddled in sheets; those students not invited, for whatever reason, to come along on the group field trip.

According to Erdman, the institute had started summer session the week before, most of the students having returned home for two months. Castillo tried not to think about what might have happened had all fifty boys still been in residence.

The glossy arterial spray splattered in streaks across the huge flat-screen and Xbox. He swallowed. More coral. Dissecting what had happened here, the who and the how and the when, would take time. The digital images from the security cameras had been deleted during the night. Nothing remained to provide his logical next step. What in God’s name happened here? His vision narrowed to a pinpoint. He felt it go, felt the scramble to regain control. Blackandwhite Blackandwhite. He turned to Erdman. “Where’s Jacobson’s office?”

“Right through here.”

He followed Erdman toward the far left corner, kept his eyes locked on the doctor’s back. They’d stopped at a door, where Erdman waved his hand across a security sensor on the wall. The sensor flushed blue, showing a spectral replication of the hand and the blood vessels within. “Vascular recognition.” Erdman turned as the door bolts clicked open. “Matches the unique vein pattern and heart rate in your palm to stored scans. As unique as fingerprinting, but more difficult to fake because it requires flowing blood.”

Castillo nodded, allowing himself the distraction of the technology. “No more fear of Play-Doh or cadaver fingers fooling the system. Would it have picked up and refused an accelerated heart rate?”

“Yes.” Erdman seemed curious.

Control flowed back for Castillo, like it had never been lost. A relief to be talking about simple security, gearhead stuff. “So, then, who opened it last night? Who had access?”

“The security log shows Dr. Jacobson opened this door at 10:13 p.m.”

Castillo and Erdman left the obvious unspoken for now. Why Jacobson? And, if a hostage, why hadn’t his heart rate been up? “Only one security guard?” Castillo asked instead. “I would think that when working for the Department of Defense—”

“Massey has only the one. The labs, the DSTI building, are far more secure.”

“Why’s that?”

“Here you are . . .” Erdman pretended not to hear the question and motioned toward an already-open doorway. “Dr. Jacobson’s office.”

The room proved spacious and expensive. It had also been totally destroyed. The chairs and dark sequoia coffee tables splintered into pieces. The cabinets emptied. Built-in shelves split and bare, the books in lopsided piles on the floor. Someone had clearly tried to start a fire with some of the paperwork. Mirrors and framed pictures had been demolished into shards of glass, and several computers and monitors were smashed, so that the whole room glittered beneath the harsh, unnatural lighting recessed above. The large desk was covered in blood that pooled along the edges of the missing doctor’s laptop.

“This the teacher’s blood?” Castillo asked. “The one from the stairwell.”

“Mrs. Gallagher,” Erdman confirmed. “Right. She would have been sixty next month.”

Castillo looked around, pointed to the swaddled cloth in the sink of the understated wet bar tucked into the corner of the office. “And that’s the . . .”

“Yes.”

Castillo nodded, made to examine the room casually, while his mind absorbed the information. Mrs. Gallagher’s entrails and uterus not ten feet away. This is worse than Towraghondi, he thought suddenly. God, I didn’t think that was even possible. To clear his mind, he tried focusing on the only two things in the room not completely destroyed. The fish tank, which, though tinged slightly pink with blood, was still intact with a dozen saltwater beauties still swimming about.

And the framed needlepoint behind the desk. Old English lettering:

And our LORD set a mark upon Cain,

And he dwelt in the land of Nod,

on the east of Eden.

“He nicknamed it the ‘Cain gene’ early,” Erdman said behind him. “Cain XP11. For Cain and Abel.”

“Got that part. First killer ever. Cute. What’s the ‘XP11’?”

“A coding gene which influences the protein transcription and enzymatic activity of DARPP-32, dopamine, and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein.”

“Don’t be a dick,” Castillo said. So much for playing quiet and nice.

The doctor held up his hand in apology. “Dopamine influences anger. In short, MAOA, or monoamine oxidase A, helps govern dopamine levels and is a keystone for high biological plausibility in antisocial spectrum disorders and psychopathy. Each chromosome of human DNA carries a million different strands with specific instructions on what that person’s genetic makeup will be. One particular location, a strand labeled XP11, controls the MAOA gene. When there’s an anomaly on that strand, it characteristically indicates abnormal dopamine levels, potentially influencing a genetic predisposition to abnormal violence. Does that help?”

“Better, thank you. And these clones are created so that your team can better study and . . . develop this specific gene.” Castillo met Erdman eye-to-eye. “To ultimately, I assume, harness violence.”

The geneticist weighed his options, clearly deciding how much more Castillo was allowed to know. “Yes,” he said. “And to cure it, too. We’re not here only to construct weapons, Mr. Castillo. In the last ten years, this pioneering research has tendered more than fifty patents to medicate depression, bipolar disorder, Parkinson’s disease, and PTSD.”

Castillo glanced at Erdman to see if the PTSD reference was deliberate. A slam? How much do they know about me? The geneticist’s expression revealed no intended insult.

“Parkinson’s?” He followed that path instead.

“Remedial manipulation of dopamine levels will eventually cure the disease. We’re in clinical trials now on several innovative products toward that selfsame purpose.”

“And you test on these kids?”

“No, no,” Erdman shook his head. “Not at all. You’re not . . . If we want to test a new protein or antibody, or whatever, we have mice and monkeys and human volunteers for that. The boys are where we harvest the new proteins and antibodies. Perhaps it’s easier to think of these boys as living drug factories, flesh-and-blood bioreactors. A single pint of their blood contains thirty grams of genetically enhanced human protein and is worth millions.”

Castillo’s face must have revealed his revulsion at the idea.

Erdman sighed. “A traditional protein-development factory would cost four hundred million and take five years to build. Subjects in the Cain project cost one hundred million each and take a single year. Each boy is projected to produce six hundred million in profit in his lifetime merely by donating a little blood a few times each year. I know what you’re thinking. It was not the boys’ choice. The ethical implications are, admittedly, complicated.”

“Complicated. Or inhumane.”

“A question we should debate later, perhaps. Today, there are lives at risk, yes?”

“Fair enough.” Castillo willed his voice to stay even. “Why’d you even tell me? The clones, I mean. You guys might have just told me six violent kids were missing.”

“Colonel Stanforth said you’d figure it out eventually anyway.”

Castillo nodded. It was a nice compliment from a trusted mentor, but: Could I ever have really imagined this? “Why killers? Shouldn’t we be cloning little Einsteins? Kobes? I don’t know, Eddie Van Halens?”

“Who’d pay?” Erdman replied. “Fifty years from now, the consumer market might sustain such programs. But, at this stage, start-up costs are in the hundreds of billions. Not many industries can undertake that. Oil. Telecommunications, maybe. But, who’d we clone for them? The military’s driven human technology for ten thousand years. And, if some good comes from that, the medicines for instance, all the better.”

“OK. Then, so why well-known serial killers? Wouldn’t it have been far easier, safer, to grab your run-of-the-mill psychopath? The prisons must be filled with them.”

“Tens of thousands. A million, maybe. But Jacobson, who directs the program, always wanted the most violent. Not just gangbangers or family annihilators. He wanted consummate psychopaths. Serial killers. And most of those men, the ones society eventually catches, become famous.”

“And no girls here. Safe to assume males are more prone to violence.”

“Safe?” Erdman’s smile was genuine, a scientist discussing his favorite subject. “Genetically and statistically undeniable. It’s not even close. The chromosomal allele for this mutation travels only on the X chromosome. Think of this allele as the genetic antidote, a code in the DNA that can ‘fix’ the violent abnormality. Remember enough high school biology? Females are born from XX chromosomes. So they’ve got a likely chance to have a cure for any aggressive mutation in the womb.”

“And men are XY.”

“Very good, you remember. So, men have only a fifty-fifty shot of carrying the natural cure to an overly aggressive XP11 strand. We’re hereditarily predisposed to retaining the affliction.”

“Half the world is hereditarily predisposed to violence?”

“We make up ninety-five percent of the prison system. Ninety-nine percent of rapes. And ninety-nine percent of death row.” The smile turned wry. “Guess you can say it’s in our blood.”

“Guess you can.” Castillo nodded. “What was in the fish tank?”

Erdman blinked. “Sorry?”

“Speaking of blood, you can tell there’s some floating in the fish tank. Someone may have only dipped their hands in, but looks like the rocks were disturbed also. A child could tell something was tossed in there. So, what was it?”

Erdman pretended to check his notes, clearly already knowing what’d been found. “It was a key,” he said. “We don’t know to what yet. Nothing here or his other office across the compound at DSTI. We’re still looking into it.”

Castillo thought about requesting the key to see what Erdman would do but figured it wasn’t worth adding to the evident animosity; locks had stopped being an issue more than a decade ago. He asked, “Was Jacobson’s lab office also destroyed?”

“No. Nor is there any record that he even went there last night.”

Castillo didn’t respond. He leaned on the edge of an upturned desk and reached down to retrieve one of the splintered picture frames. The photo inside showed two men shaking hands. The first man was a former vice president. The other, a tall, lean, gray-haired man who looked like someone you might bump into on a private golf course. Except smarter, Castillo decided. Much smarter. Someone who truly understood the world’s secret levers and cogs. “This Jacobson?”

Erdman nodded.

Castillo scanned the room. “The boys and he were in some kind of group meeting, yes?”

“First and third Thursday of every month for this group. Our psychiatric head, Angela Corwin, and Dr. Jacobson always run the session together. Ran.” Down the hall, Dr. Corwin had been found nude and murdered in her own office. “Though I didn’t think he’d make this one.”

“Who?” Castillo had lost track of the present. “Who wouldn’t make it, Doctor?”

“Jacobson. Been out for weeks,” Erdman said. “Pneumonia or . . . Just said he wasn’t feeling well. Was working from home. Came in only yesterday. Last night.”

“Why would a geneticist take any part in such talks?”

“Dr. Jacobson’s core discipline is behavioral neuroscience. His achievements in genetics evolved from that.”

“And who assigns particular students to specific group meetings?”

“Varies. Case counselors. Occasionally, Jacobson himself.”

“Right.” Castillo squinted at Erdman, finally voiced the obvious. “So Jacobson let them out. This was all intentional, premeditated even. You guys good with that? Explains the trouble-free escape, the transmitters, the missing security recordings. Why these six kids. The key. His own disappearance.” Castillo could tell from the scientist’s expression that DSTI had already considered this possibility, and maybe right from the very start. They just hadn’t wanted to concede it out loud yet.

“But why?” Erdman asked. “Why would a man do something like that?”

“Was he disgruntled?”

“How could he be? DSTI was practically his company. He could do just about anything he wanted.”

“ ‘Just about.’ What couldn’t he do? Was he working with a competitor? Influencing the stock market? Did he have money issues? Or maybe he did it for the same reason you guys do a lot of things around here.” He waved his hand, encompassing the acres of laboratories and observation rooms surrounding them. “To see what would happen.”

The geneticist looked directly at him, brought the clipboard to his chest. Cleared his throat. Castillo got the distinct impression that something of what he’d said had struck a little too close to home. Interesting. “So,” Erdman said. “What now?”

What now?

Castillo thought again of just leaving all this blood and moving on. Going home. Rather, making a home somewhere. A new life. That had been the damn plan, hadn’t it?

But the words came to him then, an ancient mantra he’d commandeered and employed for more than a year now: “I will endure it, having in my breast a heart that endures affliction. For ere this I have suffered much and toiled much amid the waves and in war; let this also be added unto that.”

Can I reappropriate the line for this task also?

He’d been in the Army for fifteen years and served with Delta Force most of those. He’d learned the art of finding people there. Hunting them.

“Now I’ll do my job,” Castillo said.

•   •   •

The scientists at DSTI had told him that only six boys had escaped.

They were not being entirely truthful.



HOUSE CALL

JUNE 03, FRIDAY—FELTON, DE

Albert could not sleep again.

His head filled with too many thoughts. Each idea, memory, and image leading to another as he stared up at the shadow-lined ceiling.

Final exam in Spanish. No clue, gonna fail. Gym first bell. Why bother getting dressed? Never understand a word the asshole teacher says anyway ’cause the fucking guy’s from Honduras or somewhere. Don’t ever go nowhere. Never even been on a plane. So fucking lame. Retarded. Bullshit class anyway. Wetbacks should just go home. Learn English like everybody else. Adrienne Haller and her fantastico tits. Two rows back. About always see her big giant nipples. Love to watch her. Her mouth. Love to watch her mouth. “¿De dónde venéis?” the mouth says. “¿De dónde venéis?” Wanna see that new movie, the one with that one guy. Sometimes, she runs the pen along her lip. You know what she’s really thinking about. Probably has stinky breath. Ashtray-breath like my bitch mother. Haller’s a big freezer, probably. Cock tease. Heard Mike Gaffney was looking for me after school. Wants to kick my ass or some shit. Another total cockwad. Need a fucking car. Go somewhere. New York. Or Vegas. Or Honduras. Anywhere. Take Mrs. Nolan somewhere and check out her nips awhile.

He’d already jacked off three times. Trying to relax. To get tired. He just wanted to sleep. No more thoughts. He had to keep busy or they came back again. Every night. Sick of YouPorn and RedTube and the shitty pictures in his shoplifted Hustler magazines. The one girl had dark hair on her arms. Like an animal. Ripped those pages out and flushed ’em down the toilet with his jizz all over them. Sick. Freak. Me.

Mrs. Nolan. Right across the street. No more than a hundred feet away. He turned onto his side and looked out the window toward her. Her bedroom. She probably jacks off sometimes too. She’s, like, forty but even old people do that stuff. MILFs do, for sure. Lies in bed and jams away with a giant purple thingee. Probably her own fingers too. Probably sick of that gay husband. Chris. Faggot. Bet she’d love—

Noise from the living room. Something breaking. His drunk mother stumbling over the end table again. No doubt pouring herself a last round of Jack and Diet Coke before bed. If he was lucky, she’d go straight to sleep. Some nights she’d come in and start laying into him. Retarded shit about his grades or friends or keeping his music too loud or other stupid shit. Like she was starting shit to start shit. Drunk bitch.

He would talk to Jacobson. He always had pills or something to make the worst thoughts go away. For a while.

Mrs. Nolan walks around in her black thong underwear. Seen it. Just last week. When she bent over to pick up the newspaper. Sure like to get my hands on dat ass. Stupid virgin. I should have done that fat bitch with Kevin when she was all fucked up, passed out. Whatnot. I could kill Mike Gaffney. Just shoot him in the fucking head with the gun in Mom’s closet. Or Mr. Faggot Nolan. Whatever. Or me. BAM! No masa Española. She thinks I’m a loser anyway. Freak. Who’d fucking care anyway? She would. Mrs. Nolan. He reached into his shorts. Fourth time would ache a little, but it was worth it. Imagined her beneath him with her arms over her head, tied to something maybe. A bedpost, he guessed. Those rail things. Something. Keeps saying NO but that’s because she doesn’t want to take the blame when they get caught. Squirming beneath him. Can’t make out her face. Adrienne. Mrs. Nolan. Mommy.

Shit!

Someone standing outside his room. Heard the creak. If his mom caught him again . . . He remembered that ordeal well enough. She’d vanished for a while and then come back to tease him about it for hours. Would not drop it. Like it was her fucking job or something. He quickly pulled his hand away. “What?” he snapped at the dark. Tried to sound tough with his heart thumping halfway out his chest. Wiped off the spit from his hand on the sheet.

The door opened a crack, and a shadow stepped into the den television’s ghostly light. He thought it might be Russ, his mom’s latest boyfriend. No. This guy was too tall. Some new guy who’d come by to fuck the bitch. Another asshole who’d probably end up laying into him someday for looking at ’im wrong.

“What?” he asked, sitting up. “What the fuck—”

The shadow man now stepped fully into his room.

But it didn’t make sense. Not at all. Why is he here?

“Dr. Jacobson?”

“Hello, Albert. I’m sorry if I alarmed you.”

Just like that. As if Albert had somehow willed the man into the bedroom with his earlier thoughts. Like some kinda genie lamp. The boy stood from his bed. “I don’t—”

“Nothing to fear, son,” the man said, his face still half lost in the room’s shadows. “Not anymore. Sit. Everything’s going to be fine now.”

Several darker shapes in the living room behind the doctor, but Albert couldn’t make them out. “Where’s . . . where’s my mom?”

“First we need to talk,” the doctor said.

“Why? Why are you here?” Albert found he’d sat back down as told, but he’d pulled the blanket close to his chest as some childish protection. “We’re not supposed to, ummm, meet again for, like, two weeks.” He squinted as the doctor loomed. “What’s that?”

“This, Albert, is a folder with all the information we have about who you are.” Dr. Jacobson had taken a seat at the end of Albert’s bed. Casually crossed one leg. “Who you really are.”

“What do . . . you mean, like, those tests and stuff  ?”

“We’re done with all that. This concerns where you come from.” He’d placed the thick folder on the bed. “Your ‘family tree,’ you might say. Go ahead. Have a look.”

“This about my dad?”

“It’s about you,” the doctor corrected. “Only you.”

The boy reached out carefully and took the folder.

ALBERT/5.

And inside: ALBERT HENRY DESALVO. (11/3/1931–11/25/1973), and a picture.

“Is this . . . ? Who is this?”

The black-and-white photo so very familiar. As if he’d seen it before, when he knew that he had not.

Dr. Jacobson smiled beside him, and then spoke briefly to Albert about things like cloning and DNA and “Self.” Before Albert could even imagine a response or question, Jacobson nodded back to the folder as if it alone now held all remaining truths. So Albert examined it again.

There were photocopied newspaper headlines. “Boston Strangler Escapes from State Mental Ward” and “Boston Strangler Murdered at Walpole Prison.” There were labeled pictures of old ladies: Anna Slesers (55), Mary Mullen (85), Nina Nichols (68), Helen Blake (65), Ida Irga (75). And also faded shots of their dead bodies. Then, the younger ones. Sophie Clark (20), Patricia Bissette (23), Beverly Samans, (23), Joann Graff (23), Mary Sullivan (19). Albert thought, The Sullivan girl has gay hair but is still kind of hot. Blond. Pretty eyes. Looks a little like Mrs. Nolan.
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